IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

)

)

Ał G 23 1984 1 SUPREME Chief Deputy Clerk

PIONEER FEDERAL SAVINGS AND LOAN ASSOCIATION,

Plaintiff, Petitioner,

vs.

ROBERT H. REEDER, MARY L. REEDER, and CORINTHIAN INVESTMENTS, INC.,

Defendants, Respondents.

CASE NO. 65,660

SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL NO. 83-1771

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

APPEAL FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

> DENNIS P. THOMPSON, ESQUIRE GARY R. PRESTON, ESQUIRE Richards, Nodine, Gilkey, Fite, Meyer & Thompson, P.A. 1253 Park Street Clearwater, Florida 33516 (813) 443-3281 Attorneys for Petitioner

INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff, Petitioner, Pioneer Federal Savings and Loan Association, was the Appellant in the Second District Court of Appeal and will be referred to herein as "Plaintiff." Defendants, Respondents, Robert H. Reeder, Mary L. Reeder, and Corinthian Investments, Inc., were the Appellees in the Second District Court of Appeal and will be referred to herein as "Defendants" or by their names.

Reference to the Record-on-Appeal will be designated by the use of the symbol "R" followed by the appropriate page number. Matter appearing in the Appendix will be designated by the use of the symbol "A".

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In Count I of the Complaint, Plaintiff, Pioneer Federal Savings and Loan Association, sued the Defendants, Robert H. Reeder, Mary L. Reeder and Corinthian Investments, Inc., seeking to foreclose a mortgage on real property situated in Pinellas County, Florida. (R 1-11) In Count II of the Complaint, Plaintiff sued Defendants, Robert H. Reeder and Mary L. Reeder, for damages arising out of their breach of the mortgage agreement. (R 1-11) The action precipitating the filing of the Complaint was the conveyance of the subject property by Defendants, Robert H. Reeder and Mary L. Reeder, to Defendant, Corinthian Investments, Inc., by means of an instrument entitled "Agreement For Deed" without Plaintiff's consent. (R 9-11) (A 5-7) By virtue of the conveyance, Plaintiff alleged that it was entitled to declare the mortgage in default, accelerate the outstanding balance due thereunder, and recover damages resulting from such breach of the mortgage agreement. (R 1-3)

In response to the Complaint, Defendants filed a Motion To Dismiss (R 14-16), and a Motion For Attorneys' Fees (R 19-25). Defendants sought to dismiss the Complaint for failure to state a cause of action on the following grounds:

- The Agreement For Deed did not constitute a "conveyance" of the mortgaged property.
- Failure to allege that Plaintiff's security had been impaired by the "conveyance."

-2-

3. The Complaint demonstrates on its face that Plaintiff waived its right to accelerate the mortgage debt by continuing to accept payments after acquiring knowledge of the Agreement For Deed. (R 14-15)

Defendants further moved to recover their attorneys' fees pursuant to Section 57.105, Florida Statutes. (R 19-25)

Defendants' Motions were heard before Circuit Judge B. J. Driver. At the hearing, Judge Driver followed the holding set forth in Chopan v. Klinkman, 330 So. 2d 154 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976), and granted Defendants' Motion To Dismiss solely on the basis that an agreement for deed did not constitute a sale of the subject property so as to permit acceleration of the debt. (A 3-4) Judge Driver specifically stated that he (R 26-27) would have preferred to follow the contrary holding set forth in the case of First Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n of Rapid City v. Kelly, 312 N.W.2d 476 (S.D. 1981). (A 3) He further found that, except for application of the Chopan case, Plaintiff had alleged sufficient grounds in its complaint to permit enforcement of the due-on-sale clause, that is, Plaintiff was not required to allege that its security had been impaired nor had there been sufficient facts shown on the face of the Complaint to constitute a waiver of the right to accelerate. (A 3) Lastly, the trial judge found that the justiciable issues of law raised by the pleadings and motions prohibited an award of attorneys' fees pursuant to Section 57.105, Florida Statutes. (A 3) As a result of the foregoing findings, the trial court dismissed the Complaint with prejudice, and denied the request

-3-

for an award of attorneys' fees. (A 3-4)

On August 15, 1983, Plaintiff filed its Notice of Appeal with the Second District Court of Appeal. (R 28) Defendants subsequently filed their Notice of Cross Appeal on August 19, 1983. (R 31) The pertinent issues framed by the briefs filed with the Second District Court of Appeal were as follows:

(a) Whether an agreement for deed constitutes a conveyance under Florida law so as to permit the exercise of a due-on-sale clause contained in a federal savings and loan association mortgage.

(b) Whether federal law has preempted the operation and enforcement of due-on-sale clauses contained in a federal savings and loan association's mortgage instrument.

(c) Whether the Garn-St. Germain Act retroactively preempted state restrictions on the enforcement of a due-on-sale clause contained in a federal savings and loan association's mortgage instrument.

On July 11, 1984, the Second District Court of Appeal issued its opinion wherein it affirmed the order of the trial court dismissing the Complaint and held that although the agreement for deed entered into between the Defendants constituted a conveyance as contemplated by the due-on-sale clause at issue, federal law did not preempt applicable state law prior to June 8, 1976, with respect to the enforcement of due-on-sale clauses, and the Garn-St. Germain Act did not apply retroactively so as to permit acceleration premised upon a con-

-4-

veyance prior to the effective date of the Act. (A 1-2) Accordingly, Plaintiff could not foreclose its mortgage without alleging and showing that its security was impaired as a result of the conveyance.

As it did in the case of <u>Kiefer v. Fortune Federal Savings</u> <u>and Loan Association</u>, 9 Fla. L.W. 1440 (2d DCA, No. 83-1740, June 27, 1984), the Court certified the following question as one of great public importance:

> IS THE GARN-ST. GERMAIN ACT RETROACTIVE IN AP-PLICATION AS IT PERTAINS TO TRANSFERS MADE PRIOR TO THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE ACT?

On July 25, 1984, Plaintiff filed its Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction with this Court.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Plaintiff is a federal savings and loan association subject to supervision and regulation by the Federal Home Loan Bank Board. (R 1)

On or about August 2, 1973, Defendants, Robert H. Reeder and Mary L. Reeder, executed and delivered to Plaintiff a promissory note in the amount of Five Hundred Twenty Thousand Dollars (\$520,000.00). Defendants further executed and delivered to Plaintiff a mortgage of even date to secure payment of their promissory note. (R 1, 4, 5) The mortgage executed by Defendants incorporated all of the provisions, terms, covenants, conditions, obligations, powers and other contents of the "master form of mortgage" previously recorded by Plaintiff. (R 5-7) Paragraph eleven of the master mortgage is commonly referred to as a due-on-sale clause and provides as follows:

> That if <u>conveyance</u> should be made by the Mortgagor <u>of the premises</u> herein described <u>or any part</u> <u>thereof</u>, without the written consent of the Association, then and in that event and at the option of the Association and without notice to the Mortgagor, all sums of money secured hereby shall immediately and concurrently with such <u>conveyance</u> become due and payable and in default whether the same are so due and payable and in default by the specific terms hereof or not. (Emphasis added) (R 7)

Defendants, Robert H. Reeder and Mary L. Reeder, subsequently conveyed the property to Defendant, Corinthian Investments, Inc., on or about August 30, 1979, by means of an instrument entitled "Agreement For Deed." (R 9-11) (A 5-7) Said transaction was made without the written consent of the Plaintiff as

-6-

required by paragraph eleven of the mortgage. (R 2)

Under the terms of the Agreement For Deed, Corinthian Investments, Inc., became obligated to pay \$920,000 of which \$60,000 was to be paid on or before the execution of the instrument and the balance in monthly payments, as follows:

- (a) \$455,829.04 payable without interest in monthly installments of \$4,847.13.
- (b) \$404,170.96 payable with interest at 12% in monthly installments of \$4,404.40. (R 9) (A 5)

Additionally, as a part of the transaction, Defendant, Corinthian Investments, Inc., took possession of the premises and agreed to pay "all taxes, assessments, or other impositions" imposed against the subject property and to maintain insurance on the buildings situated thereon. (A 6) The balance reflected in subparagraph (a) above presumably represents the outstanding amount due to Plaintiff under its promissory note at the time of the sale in that the payments are identical to those contained in said note. (R 4, 9)

As a result of the conveyance of the subject property, Plaintiff declared a default and accelerated the outstanding balance due under its note and mortgage and instituted the present action. (R 2)

-7-

WITH RESPECT TO DUE-ON-SALE CLAUSES CONTAINED IN MORTGAGE CONTRACTS OF FEDERAL SAVINGS AND LOAN ASSOCIATIONS, THE GARN-ST GERMAIN ACT APPLIES TO TRANSFERS PRIOR TO THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE ACT BECAUSE

- (a) THE PLAIN MEANING OF THE ACT REQUIRES RETRO-ACTIVE APPLICATION, AND
- (b) THE ACT IS REMEDIAL IN NATURE AND, THUS, APPLIES RETROACTIVELY.

The Home Owner's Loan Act of 1933 (HOLA), 12 U.S.C. Section 1461 et seq. (1980), was enacted for the purpose of creating a system of federal savings and loan associations, administered by the Federal Home Loan Bank Board (Board) in order to secure that savings and loans would be "permanent associations to promote the thrift of the people in a cooperative manner, to finance their homes and the homes of their neighbors." S. Rep. No. 91, 73d Cong., 1st Sess., 2 (1933) (remarks of Sen. Bulkley); see also Fidelity Federal Sav. & Loan Ass'n v. de la Cuesta, 458 U.S. 141, 102 S. Ct. 3014 (1982). (A 17-36) The de la Cuesta Court observed that Congress delegated power to the Board expressly for the purpose of ensuring the financial stability of the federal associations in order to provide financing for the purchase and construction of homes. de la Cuesta, supra at 3029-30. (A 32-33) It has been determined that the due-on-sale clause is a provision that is vitally important in providing financial security to federal associations. See infra at pages 31-32. Due to the importance of the due-on-sale clause in furthering the purposes of the

-8-

I.

HOLA--providing funds for home purchase--there has been significant regulatory and statutory action to allow for the enforceability of the due-on-sale clause without regard to state law restrictions.

In 1948, the Federal Home Loan Bank Board promulgated a regulation, 12 C.F.R. Section 545.8-3(a) (see, de la Cuesta, supra, at 3019, n.4 (A 22)), that requires all loan instruments to "provide for full protection to the federal association." The Board subsequently interpreted this regulation as authorizing the exercise of due-on-sale clauses, regardless of contrary state law, because such clauses provide for "full protection" to the lender. Advisory Opinion of the Federal Home Loan Bank Board, Resolution No. 75-647* (Schott Advisory Opinion). (A 37-84) (This regulation was in effect when Plaintiff's mortgage was executed). See generally Part II of this Brief. In response to increasing controversy concerning the authority of federal savings and loan associations to include and exercise due-on-sale clauses, the Board issued a regulation, 12 C.F.R. Section 545.8-3(f), which provided that a federal savings and loan association "continues" to have the power to include a due-on-sale clause in its contracts. In a statement of policy issued in connection with the adoption of this regulation, the Board again stated that it intended federal law to exclusively govern the exercise of due-on-sale clauses in its associations'

*Cited also in <u>de la Cuesta</u>, <u>supra</u> at 3019. (A 22)

-9-

mortgages. 41 Fed. Reg. 18286-87 (1976). The Board stressed that "federal associations shall not be bound by or subject to any conflicting state law which imposes different...due-on-sale requirements." <u>Id.</u> In interpreting the effect of this regulation, the United States Supreme Court in <u>de la Cuesta</u>, <u>supra</u>, held that the Board's regulation preempted conflicting state restrictions on the enforceability of due-on-sale clauses of federal savings and loan associations, and stated that federal regulations have the same preemptive effect as federal statutes. Finally, in order to provide uniformity among all lenders, Congress enacted the Garn-St. Germain Depository Institution's Act of 1982, Pub. L. No. 97-320, which provides that:

> "Notwithstanding any provision of the constitution or laws (including the judicial decisions) of any State to the contrary, a lender may, subject to subsection (c), enter into or enforce a contract containing a due-on-sale clause with respect to a real property loan."

The Garn-St. Germain Depository Institution's Act of 1982, <u>supra</u>, Section 341(b)(1), codified at 12 U.S.C. Section 1701j-3 (1982). (A 8-10)

On the authority of the Garn-St. Germain Act, the Plaintiff is entitled to enforce the due-on-sale clause contained in the subject mortgage on each of the following grounds: (a) the Act is remedial in nature (impairs no vested rights) and, therefore, applies to the subject transaction; and (b) a fair reading of the Act unequivocally requires retroactive application.

-10-

THE PLAIN MEANING OF THE ACT REQUIRES RETROACTIVE APPLICATION.

While a general rule of statutory construction favors a presumption that statutes operate prospectively only, such presumption is rebutted where the terms and operation of the statute clearly require retroactive application by necessary implication. <u>See, e.g., Avila South Condominium Ass'n, Inc. v.</u> <u>Kappa Corp.</u>, 347 So. 2d 599 (Fla. 1977). Although the Garn-St. Germain Act does not expressly provide for retroactive application, an analysis of the Act itself clearly indicates that preemption of state laws and judicial decisions restricting the enforcement of due-on-sale clauses was intended to apply retroactively.

First, Section 1701j-3(b)(1) of the Act provides that a "lender may...enter into <u>or enforce</u> a contract containing a due-on-sale clause...." (Emphasis added). (A 9) The language, "or enforce," suggests applicability to an already existing contract which contains a due-on-sale clause by providing for enforcement of the clause apart from execution of a new contract. The implication is retroactive application. Had the authors desired only a prospective preemption, the words "enter into and enforce" would have been used.

Second, the operation of the "window period" exception raises several points in support of application to transfers

(a)

prior to the effective date of the Act. Congress carved out a window period exception to the blanket federal preemption in order to avoid an unfair impact on those real property buyers who entered into their contracts relying on then-existing state restrictions on the enforcement of due-on-sale clauses. The window period runs from the time the state acted to restrict enforcement of due-on-sale clauses until the effective date of Garn-St. Germain, October 15, 1982. For loans originating during the window period, Garn-St. Germain will not preempt state law restrictions on the enforcement of due-on-sale clauses for a period of three years, until October 15, 1985.

However, Section 1701j-3(c)(1)(A), (A 9), provides that a state, through legislative action, may reduce the three year stay, thereby causing loans entered into during the window period to be subject to Section 1701j-3(b)(1), the blanket federal preemption. In this event, Congress expressly limits the application of Section 1701j-3(b)(1) to window period loans to situations where the transfer of the encumbered property occurs after the effective date of the Act:

> (B) A lender may not exercise its option pursuant to a due-on-sale clause in the case of a transfer of a real property loan which is subject to this subsection where the transfer occurred prior to the date of enactment of this Act. (Emphasis added).

Garn-St. Germain, <u>supra</u> at Section 1701j-3(c)(2)(B). (A 9) The necessary implication of this limitation is that Section 1701j-3(b)(1) otherwise applies to transfers occurring before

-12-

the enactment of Garn-St. Germain, that is, to all transfers not included within the window period limitation. If Section 1701j-3(b)(1) did not apply retroactively, there would have been no need to include the proviso of Section 1701j-3(c)(2)(B) set forth above.

The legislative history further reveals the necessity of "limiting" the application of 1701j-3(b)(l) to transfers after the effective date:

...lenders who may be authorized to enforce due-on-sale clauses in window period loans by virtue of state legislative action...can only do so with respect to sales and real property transfers which occur after passage of this legislation. (Emphasis added).

S. Rep. No. 536, 97th Cong., 2nd Sess. 24 (1982). (A 15) It is vitally important to note that this limitation only applies to window period loans. Significantly, federal savings and loans are expressly excluded from the window period exception by virtue of Section 1701j-3(c)(2)(C) of the Act, which states as follows:

> (c) This subsection does not apply to a loan which was originated by a Federal savings and loan association or Federal savings bank.

Thus, federal savings and loan associations receive the full impact of 1701j-3(b)(1)--retroactive application to transfers occurring prior to October 15, 1982. Accordingly, the necessary implication of the provisions of the Act requires application to pre-Act transfers with respect to mortgages of federal savings and loan associations.

-13-

In holding that the Garn-St. Germain Act does not apply retroactively, the lower court relied on Section 1701j-3(c)(2)(B) as evidence of Congressional intent for prospective application only. <u>Pioneer Federal Sav. & Loan Ass'n</u> <u>v. Reeder</u>, 9 Fla. L.W. 1533 (2d DCA, No. 83-1771, July 11, 1984) (A 2); <u>Kiefer</u>, <u>supra</u> at 1441. Based on the analysis set forth above, the Second District Court of Appeal has misinterpreted the plain meaning of the Act.

A third point in favor of retroactive application of Garn-St. Germain is revealed on the face of the Act. The drafters of the Act sought to specify the circumstances under which enforcement of due-on-sale clauses would be restricted. In addition to the window period exception and the limitation of Section 1701j-3(c) (2) (B) discussed above, the Act sets out nine other transactions upon which a lender may not exercise its option pursuant to a due-on-sale clause. Garn-St. Germain, <u>supra</u> at Section 1701j-3(d). (A 9-10) Had the drafters intended other limitations on the extent of the blanket preemption of Section 1701j-3(b) (1) (such as transfers prior to the effective date of the Act for federal associations), they would have expressly enumerated them.

It is a well-established principle of statutory construction that the mention of one thing implies the exclusion of another; <u>expressio unius est exclusio alterius</u>. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Thayer v. State</u>, 335 So. 2d 815 (Fla. 1976). "Hence, where a statute enumerates the things on which it is to operate, or forbids certain things, it is ordinarily to be construed as

-14-

excluding from its operation all those not expressly mentioned." Id. at 817. The Garn Act expressly stated those instances where the enforcement of due-on-sale clauses would be limited. Following the aforesaid rule of construction, due-on-sale clauses would be freely enforceable in all situations not enumerated, including transfers prior to the Act with respect to federal savings and loan associations.

Based upon the foregoing analysis, the Garn-St. Germain Act by necessary implication applies to transfers occurring prior to the effective date of the Act.

(b)

THE ACT IS REMEDIAL IN NATURE AND THUS APPLIES RETRO-ACTIVELY.

Remedial statutes, which neither create nor take away vested rights, operate to further or confirm rights or remedies already existing and are applied retroactively. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>City of Lakeland v. Catinella</u>, 129 So. 2d 133 (Fla. 1961); <u>City</u> <u>of North Bay Village v. City of Miami Beach</u>, 365 So. 2d 389 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978). Section 1701j-3(b)(1) of the Garn-St. Germain Act confirms the ability of a lender to enforce an already-existing contract right, the due-on-sale clause, and does not create new or take away vested rights. Accordingly, the Garn-St. Germain Act is a remedial statute and must be given retroactive application.

> [A] remedial statute must be so construed as to make it effect the evident purpose for which it was enacted, so that if the reason of the statute extends to past transactions, as well as to those in the future, then it will be so applied although the statute does not in terms so direct, unless to do so would impair some vested right or violate some constitutional guaranty.

73 Am. Jur. 2d, <u>Statutes</u> Section 354 (1974). The purpose of the Garn Act is to provide for the enforcement of due-on-sale clauses without regard to state law so as to ensure that lenders will remain financially able to supply funds for the purchase of realty. <u>See infra</u> at pages 31-32. The reason for the Act certainly extends to past transactions, and in order to effectuate the purpose of this remedial statute, Garn-St. Germain must be applied to transactions occurring prior to its

-16-

effective date.

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