# OF THE STATE OF FLORMAT I SID J. WHITE

PIONEER FEDERAL SAVINGS and LOAN ASSOCIATION,

Plaintiff, Petitioner,

v.

ROBERT H. REEDER, MARY L. REEDER, and CORINTHIAN INVESTMENTS, INC.,

Defendants, Respondents.

SEP 21 1984

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

CASE NO. 65,660

SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL NO. 83-1771

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

APPEAL FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

JOEL R. TEW, ESQUIRE
Helms, Mulliss & Johnston
201 E. Kennedy Blvd., Suite 1512
P.O. Box 1842
Tampa, Florida 33602
(813) 229-1993
Attorneys for Defendants/Respondents

####

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

All statutes are presumed to operate prospectively only, and this presumption is overcome only when the terms of the statute clearly require retroactive application. The terms of the Garn-St. Germain Act not only fail clearly to require retroactive application, but in fact demonstrate that the statute was not intended to apply retroactively to transfers made prior to the effective date of the Act.

Furthermore, statutory construction in favor of prospective application is required when retroactive application of the statute is constitutionally impermissible. In this case, retroactive application of the Garn-St. Germain Act to transfers made prior to its effective date would constitute an impairment of the obligations of contract in violation of the due process clause of the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.

Finally, with regard to the federal regulations preceding the Garn-St. Germain Act, it is clear that the mortgage in this case pre-dated any federally created authority to enforce due-on-sale clauses and that, as with Garn-St. Germain, retroactive application of such regulations is constitutionally prohibited.

#### **ARGUMENT**

# L THE GARN-ST. GERMAIN ACT CANNOT BE APPLIED RETROACTIVELY TO TRANSFERS MADE PRIOR TO THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE ACT

Plaintiff advances two arguments in favor of retroactive application of the Garn-St. Germain Act. First, plaintiff contends that the Act on its face "unequivocally requires" retroactive application. B at 10, 11-15. Secondly, plaintiff alternately contends that even if retroactive application is not clearly required on the face of the Act, the Act nevertheless should be applied retroactively because it is remedial only and affects no substantive rights. B at 10, 16-19. Neither of plaintiff's contentions is

correct.

Before turning to the direct, analytical interpretation of the Act and the constitutional ramifications of retroactive application, it is helpful to establish the present status of the judicial decisions on the issue presented to this Court. The lower Florida appellate courts and courts from other jurisdictions already have addressed this issue on several occasions, and defendants have located no reported decision supporting the retroactive application of either the Garn-St. Germain Act or the federal regulations.

In four separate cases the Florida courts have refused to apply the federal regulations retroactively and have held that prior to June 8, 1976, the effective date of 12 C.F.R. \$545.8-3(f) (1982), federal law did not preempt applicable state law concerning the enforcement of due-on-sale clauses in federal savings and loan association mortgages. Pioneer Federal Savings and Loan Association v. Reeder, 9 Fla.L.W. 1533 (2d DCA, No. 83-1771, July 11, 1984); Kiefer v. Fortune Federal Savings and Loan, 9 Fla.L.W. 1440 (2d DCA, No. 83-1740, June 27, 1984); Weiman v. Mchaffie, 9 Fla.L.W. 782 (1st DCA, No. AT-476, April 6, 1984); First Federal Savings and Loan Association v. Quigley, 445 So.2d 1052 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984).

Similarly, the Florida appellate courts on three occasions have rejected the retroactive application of the Garn-St. Germain Act. <u>Pioneer Federal Savings and Loan Association v. Reeder, supra; Kiefer v. Fortune Federal Savings and Loan Association, supra; Freedom Savings and Loan Association v. LaMonte, 9 Fla.L.W. 788 (2d DCA, No. 83-1804, April 4, 1984).</u>

Two other state supreme courts have addressed the issue of retroactive application of the federal regulations allowing enforcement of due-on-sale clauses, and in both cases the courts rejected any application prior to the effective date of the 1976 regulation.

See Abrego v. United Peoples Federal Savings and Loan Association, 644 S.W.2d 858 (Ark.1984) and Scappaticci v. Southwest Savings and Loan Association, 662 P.2d 131

(Ariz.1983). Accordingly, as far as defendants have determined, this matter comes before the Court with no other court having allowed retroactive application of either the regulations or the Garn-St. Germain Act. As the following discussion demonstrates, those decisions are correct in both respects.

# A. The Plain Meaning of the Act Does Not Require Retroactive Application.

Plaintiff advances three statutory construction arguments to support its contention that the Garn-St. Germain Act, 12 U.S.C. \$1701j-3 (1982), facially requires retroactive application to transfers made prior to its October 15, 1982, effective date. None of those arguments is sound.

Plaintiff's first contention is that \$1701j-3(b)(1) of the Act provides that a "lender may... enter into or enforce a contract containing a due-on-sale clause..." (emphasis added). B at 11. Plaintiff argues that the insertion of the term "or enforce" suggests applicability to a pre-existing contract. Plaintiff's conjecture is erroneous for three reasons.

First, plaintiff itself acknowledges that the general rule of statutory construction presumes that statutes operate prospectively only, and that the presumption cannot be rebutted without demonstrating that the terms of the statute <u>clearly require</u> retroactive application. B at 11. If Congress intended for the Act to apply retroactively, it could and would have rebutted the presumption by stating expressly that the Act was to apply to prior transfers; it would not have relied upon some nebulous and speculative construction of the Act based upon the interpretation of the term "or enforce."

The second flaw in plaintiff's analysis is that the insertion of the term "or enforce" does not necessarily imply plaintiff's desired intent. To the contrary, insertion of the term was necessary if Congress wished even prospectively to alter existing state law, under which federal savings and loans always had authority to enter into agreements with due-on-sale clauses but could not enforce them in equity through foreclosure. Consequently, Congress may have inserted the term "or enforce" simply to make it clear

that in the future such institutions not only could include the clauses but also could enforce them.

The third, most fatal defect in plaintiff's reasoning is that, even in plaintiff's view, the insertion of the term "or enforce" suggests applicability only to an existing contract. Plaintiff overlooks the more specific issue certified to this Court—whether the Act applies retroactively to transfers made prior to the Act. Obviously, under plaintiff's proposed construction the Act may apply to existing contracts and still be limited to transfers under those contracts made after and not before the date of the Act.

Plaintiff's second contention is that the insertion of the "window period" exception evidences an intent in favor of retroactive application of the Act. Plaintiff's analysis on this point is internally inconsistent. First, plaintiff concedes that the window period exception was established to "avoid an unfair impact on those real property buyers who entered into their contracts relying on then-existing state restrictions on the enforcement of due-on-sale clauses." B at 12. If that is true, plaintiff fails to explain why it is unfair to apply the Act even prospectively in such circumstances but presumably fair to apply the Act retroactively as plaintiff desires. If prospective application is unfair for prospective transfers made within three years after the date of the Act, on the theory that the parties relied upon state due-on-sale law when they executed their contracts, then certainly those parties who not only executed their contracts but also made a transfer prior to the Act, rather than after the Act, were entitled to rely upon existing state law.

Defendants submit the following as a more reasonable, logical interpretation of the window period exception within the Act. When Congress addressed the issue, which had arisen largely in connection with federal savings and loans, it elected to go beyond that particular lender type and address the enforcement of due-on-sale clauses generally. Congress therefore made the Act applicable to all lenders, but did not intend, and the Act does not provide, that it should apply to any transfer made prior to the Act,

regardless of the identity of the lender. Favoring federal savings and loan associations, however, Congress elected to allow federal associations immediately to enforce due-onsale clauses with respect to new transfers, while continuing to restrict enforcement by other persons or institutions where state law previously had restricted such enforcement. The restriction, however, was limited to three years, which could be further reduced or eliminated by state legislative action. 12 U.S.C. \$1701j-3(c)(1)(A) (1982). Having delegated such authority to the state legislatures, though, Congress was concerned that when eliminating the window period exception the states could give nonfederal institutions an advantage over federal institutions, if the state legislature allowed retroactive application to transfers made prior to the Act. Hence the reason for the insertion of \$1701j-3(c)(2)(B). Consequently, the purpose of this provision was not the convoluted one now advanced by plaintiff--to "suggest" or "imply" that federal associations could reach prior transfers--but instead simply to insure that the state legislatures could not overstep their bounds and allow retroactive application of the Act, regardless of the identity of the lender. Once again, if Congress had intended to allow retroactive application by federal savings and loan associations, it simply would have so stated and would not have left the matter dependent upon the convoluted reasoning advanced by plaintiff. Congress simply was echoing its original intent, with regard to all lenders, when it stated:

> "A lender may not exercise its option pursuant to a due-onsale clause in the case of a transfer of a real property loan which is subject to this subsection where the transfer occurred prior to the date of enactment of this Act."

Garn-St. Germain Act, supra, at \$1701j-3(c)(2)(B).

Plaintiff's third and final statutory construction argument warrants only brief discussion. Here plaintiff contends that the exemption of nine specific transactions from the Act indicates that Congress intended otherwise to apply the Act retroactively. Plaintiff apparently does not consider the other, equally plausible explanation that, as a matter of policy, Congress elected to eliminate those transactions even from the

prospective application of the Act. Indeed, that is the clear effect of \$1701j-3(d). Plaintiff's effort to read more into that election is not justified by the terms of the Act, and in any event the effort certainly does not meet the strict standard that the presumption of prospective application of the statute can be rebutted only upon a showing that the terms of the statute clearly require retroactive application.

## B. Retroactive Application of the Act Would Affect Substantive Rights and is Constitutionally Impermissible.

Impliedly recognizing that its first argument on the plain meaning of the statute might fail, plaintiff next argues for retroactive application of the Act on the theory that it is remedial in nature and impairs no vested rights. B at 16-19. Plaintiff's argument is not correct because retroactive application of the Act would impair the obligation of contracts and would violate the due process clause of the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution. Indeed, plaintiff itself acknowledges that retroactive application of a purported remedial statute is not allowable if doing so would impair some vested right or would violate some constitutional guarantee. B at 16.

The United States Constitution provides that "[n]o State shall enter into any . . . Law impairing the Obligation of Contracts . . . ." Art. 1, \$10, cl.1, U.S. Const. Similarly, the Constitution of the State of Florida provides that "[n]o . . . law impairing the obligation of contracts shall be passed." Art. 1, \$10, Fla. Const. The contract clause, which in each instance protects against impairment of vested contract rights, is drawn into issue upon the retroactive application of a statute or regulation. Because contract rights are property rights, the contract clause has been incorporated by reference and made applicable against the federal government through the due process clause of the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution. Hepburn v. Griswold, 75 U.S. 603 (1899); Larionoff v. United States, 533 F.2d 1167 (D.C.Cir. 1976), affirmed 431 U.S. 864 (1977); John McShain, Inc. v. District of Columbia, 205 F.2d 882 (D.C.Cir.) cert. denied 346 U.S. 900 (1953); Rivera v. Patino, 524 F.Supp. 136 (N.D. Cal. (1981); In Re Glynn, 13 B.R. 647 (1981); Kerner v. Johnson, 583 P.2d 360 (Id.1978).

Accordingly, the contract clause cases generated by the United States Supreme Court apply directly to the issue of retroactive application of the Garn-St. Germain Act. See, e.g., Energy Reserves Group, Inc. v. The Kansas Power and Light Company, 51 U.S.L.W. 4106 (No. 81-1370, January 24, 1983); Allied Structural Steel Company v. Spannaus, 438 U.S. 234 (1978); United States Trust Company v. New Jersey, 431 U.S. 1 (1977); El Paso v. Simmons, 379 U.S. 497 (1965). As these cases amply demonstrate, the archaic distinction between remedial and substantive rights and obligations, which distinction is drawn by plaintiff in its brief, has been rendered obsolete and discarded in contract clause analysis.

It is established that an impairment of contract may occur either if a right based upon the covenant is destroyed or if a remedy is modified or altered to such an extent that the underlying right is meaningless for practical purposes. <u>Fidelity Union Trust Company v. New Jersey Highway Authority</u>, 395 A.2d 1280 (N.J.App.1978). "Obligation of contract" repeatedly has been held to embrace remedy, including the means allowed by law at the creation of the contract to enforce performance or to redress injury. <u>E.g.</u>, State ex rel Porterie v. Walmsley, 162 So. 826 (La.1935).

Plaintiff's contention that the Garn-St. Germain Act may be applied retroactively, on the theory that it affects remedies only, therefore cannot pass constitutional muster. The constitutional test is whether the Act lessens the value of the contract to the parties; if it does, the constitutional prohibition against laws impairing the oblitgation of contracts is violated. For example, in <u>United States Trust Company v. New Jersey</u>, supra, the United States Supreme Court reviewed the history of contract clause cases, in the context of the remedy versus obligation distinction, and concluded that "[i] mpairment of a remedy was held to be unconstitutional if it effectively reduced the value of substantive contract rights." 431 U.S. at 20n.17.

The court on other occasions has made similar pronouncements:

"The obligation of a contract includes everything within its obligatory scope. Among these elements nothing is more

important than the means of enforcement. This is the breath of its vital existence. Without it, the contract, as such, in the view of the law, ceases to be, and falls into the class of those 'imperfect obligations,' as they are termed, which depend for their fulfillment upon the will and conscience of those upon whom they rest. The idea of right and remedy are inseparable. 'Want of right and want of remedy are the same thing.'"

Edwards v. Kearzey, 96 U.S. 793, 794 (1878). Relying upon this principle, the court long has held that an impairment of the obligation of contract is within the prohibition of the constitution if the statute is one which directly affects the means or remedy for enforcing the obligation. See Walker v. Whitehead, 83 U.S. 357 (1873). See also American Finance Corp. v. Small, 250 So.2d 768 (La. 2d Cir.1971) (means of enforcing a contract is an obligation secured by the Constitution; therefore the remedy is inseparable from the contract itself). There can be no serious dispute in the present case but that allowed enforcement of the due-on-sale clause materially and substantially lessens the value of the contract to defendants, given the dramatic difference between the contract interest rate and prevailing market interest rates.

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